BYELAWS OF THE GEOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF LONDON

First Schedule to the Second Supplemental Charter of <YEAR>

DEFINITIONS

Advisory Panel	A group of individuals that advises Council. The Advisory Panel does not have responsibility or authority in the running of The Society.
Council	The board comprising elected and appointed Trustees that has overall responsibility for the governance of The Society.
Chief Executive	The staff member charged with the management of The Society, normally reporting to the President and Council.
Collections	The physical and electronic books, maps, archives, business papers and artefacts held by The Society.
Common Seal	The official seal of The Society for the purposes of authenticating and executing legal documents. The formalities for affixing the Seal are prescribed in the Byelaws.
Disciplinary Panel	One or more panels which are together responsible for reviewing and investigating complaints, conducting hearings, reporting findings and making recommendations to Council for the determination of disciplinary matters as set out in the Regulations.
Fellow	A member who meets the admission criteria for Fellowship set by Council.
Geoscience	The study of the Earth and other planetary systems, their processes and interactions with living things, including investigation of the past, measurement of the present and modelling of the future.
Nominations Committee	The group responsible for identifying candidates for positions on Council and the Advisory Panel.
Officer	An elected Trustee who holds the Office of President, Vice-President or Treasurer.
President	The elected Trustee who leads the governance of The Society.
President-Elect	The elected immediate future President of The Society who has not yet taken up Office.
Professional and Scientific Interest Groups	Formally constituted groups of The Society whose members share common professional or scientific interests.
Regional Groups	Formally constituted groups of The Society whose members live or work in particular geographical areas.
Regulations	Rules made by The Society to control and direct its operations in line with the requirements of the Royal Charter and Byelaws.
Royal Charter	An instrument of incorporation granted by the Sovereign conferring independent legal rights and duties on The Society.
Standing Committees	Permanent committees of The Society that meet regularly with specific responsibilities set by Council.

The Society	The Geological Society of London.
Treasurer	The elected Trustee who leads the financial governance of The Society.
Treasurer-Elect	The elected immediate future Treasurer of The Society who has not yet taken up Office.
Trustee	A member of Council, sharing collective responsibility with other Trustees for the governance of The Society.
Vice-President	An Officer other than the President or Treasurer who is Chair of a Standing Committee.
Voting Member	A member of The Society who is entitled to vote at a meeting of The Society and in Society elections.

1.	STAT	US AND PURPOSE
	1.1	The Geological Society of London (The Society) is a body incorporated by Royal Charter and is a charity registered in England and Wales (Registered Charity No. 210161), with the Objects as set out in Article 2 of its Royal Charter.

2.	MEMBERSHIP		
	Memb	Members	
	2.1	The Society is a membership organisation with the following principal categories of membership:	
		i. Fellows ii. Honorary Fellows iii. Student Members	
	2.2	In addition, there may be categories of non-voting members open to anyone with an interest in Geoscience but who do not meet the eligibility criteria to become a Fellow or Student Member.	
	2.3	The criteria for admission and entitlements and obligations of each grade of membership are set out in the Regulations.	
	Fellov	ws	
	2.4	To be eligible for Fellowship a person must:	
		 i. Hold a degree, or an equivalent qualification, in Geoscience or a related subject from a university or other educational institution recognised by The Society; or, ii. Meet demonstrated experience and standards in Geoscience or a related subject as set out in Regulations. 	

2.5 A Fellow has the right to vote at Meetings of The Society and in Society elections. 2.6 Any member who has been a Fellow of The Society for 50 years shall be designated a Senior Fellow. **Honorary Fellows** 2.7 Council may elect persons for admission to the grade of Honorary Fellow. Persons of distinction, scientists of exceptional merit, and persons who have provided exceptional service to the Geosciences may be elected as Honorary Fellows. 2.8 An Honorary Fellow has the right to vote at Meetings of The Society and in Society elections. **Student Members** 2.9 In order to be eligible for Student Membership a person must be: i. Registered as a student undertaking a course leading to a degree in Geoscience or a related subject; or, ii. In secondary or further education and studying subjects that could lead to entry to a course leading to a degree in Geoscience or a related subject. 2.10 A Student Member has the right to vote at Meetings of The Society and in Society elections. Chartership A Fellow that meets the academic and professional experience requirements and standards set out in the Regulations, together with fulfilling the requirements for continuing professional development, may apply to be validated as a Chartered Geologist. The Society may award other professional qualifications under licences granted by other organisations. **Post-nominal initials** 2.12 Members are entitled to use the post-nominal initials appropriate to their grade of membership, as follows: i. Fellow: FGS ii. Honorary Fellow: Hon FGS Fellows who have been validated as a Chartered Geologist are entitled to use the post-nominal initials CGeol FGS. Fellows may precede FGS with approved post-nominal initials signifying other professional qualifications awarded by The Society under licences granted by other organisations.

2.13	There are no post-nominal initials associated with the membership grade of Student Member.
2.14	There are no post-nominal initials associated with non-voting member categories.
Fees	
2.15	Membership shall be by payment of a fee.
2.16	Honorary Fellows and Senior Fellows shall be exempt from the payment of membership fees but shall be liable to pay to maintain CGeol qualifications.
2.17	Fees shall be due as set out in the Regulations.
2.18	Council may reduce or remove the annual fee or arrears of any annual fee payable by a member where it is considered appropriate to do so.
Cessa	ation of membership
2.19	 A person shall cease to be a member of The Society in any of the following cases: i. Death. ii. Resignation from The Society by making a formal application in writing in accordance with the relevant Regulations. iii. A decision has been made in accordance with the Regulations to revoke membership due to non-payment of fees or any other debt to The Society. iv. A Disciplinary Panel established in accordance with the Regulations of The Society recommends and Council agrees that membership is revoked.
Cond	uct
2.20	All Voting Members (Fellows, Honorary Fellows, and Student Members) shall comply with the Codes of Conduct as set out by The Society in the Regulations.
2.21	All non-voting members shall comply with the relevant Codes of Conduct as set out by The Society in the Regulations.

3.	COUNCIL	
	Coun	cil
	3.1	Council is responsible for directing and governing The Society.
	3.2	Members of Council are charity Trustees in law and must comply with all relevant legislation.

Mem	bership of Council
3.3	Council shall in normal circumstances consist of a maximum of 12 Trustees, and in no circumstance be more than 14, who shall include the President, Treasurer, the Officers and other Trustees (some of whom shall be with portfolio and some of whom shall be without portfolio, at the discretion of Council).
3.4	Council shall comprise elected Trustees and may also include appointed Trustees who shall be Voting Members of The Society, and co-opted Trustees with specific expertise who would not be eligible to be Voting Members of The Society. The number of appointed and co-opted Trustees at any one time shall not exceed three in total.
3.5	The composition of Council, including the duration of service and criteria for appointment of non-elected Trustees and co-option of other members, shall be as set out in the Regulations.
Elect	ion to Council
3.6	Every Voting Member of The Society has the right to be proposed for election as a Trustee of The Society and to propose other Voting Members for election as Trustees of The Society as laid out in the Regulations.
3.7	Potential candidates with appropriate experience and skills for positions on Council may also be identified by the Nominations Committee.
3.8	A Voting Member proposed for election as a Trustee shall be excluded if they are disqualified by law.
3.9	Trustees shall be elected for a three-year term, once renewable, by means of a ballot of the Voting Members conducted in accordance with the Regulations and shall take up Office immediately following the Annual General Meeting, when the election results are enacted.
Powe	ers and responsibilities
3.10	Council has the following powers and responsibilities:
	 i. Serve as the Trustees for The Society. ii. Ensure that The Society carries out its purposes for the public benefit. iii. Ensure that The Society pursues its activities as set out in its Royal Charter and Byelaws. iv. Ensure that The Society and trading subsidiaries are compliant with all relevant legislation and with their legal obligations. v. Act in the best interests of The Society as a whole not on behalf of any one grouping or constituency. vi. Make and amend Regulations as required. vii. Set and periodically review The Society's strategy, and its mission,
	vision, purpose, and values. viii. Approve The Society's strategic plans, business plans and budgets, and monitor their delivery. ix. Ensure effective delegation of authorities by: a. Ensuring effective operating procedures, financial control and risk management systems are established and monitored.

- b. Directing, monitoring and coordinating the activities of Standing Committees, subcommittees and panels.
- x. Appoint, direct, and remove the Chief Executive.
- xi. Define and maintain job descriptions for all Officer roles and ensure a pipeline of appropriately skilled potential Trustees for future succession.

Cessation and disqualification

- 3.11 A Trustee shall vacate their position in the following circumstances:
 - If that Trustee is an elected or appointed member of Council and is no longer a Voting Member of The Society.
 - ii. On submission of their resignation to Council.
 - iii. If a receiving order is made against that Trustee or they become bankrupt, they enter an arrangement with creditors or are subject to other legal disqualification.
 - iv. If that Trustee dies or becomes incapable due to ill health.
 - v. If that Trustee is found to have breached any of The Society's Codes of Conduct or where the majority of Trustees vote to remove a Trustee due to a breach of the Regulation pertaining to the performance of Trustees.
 - vi. Upon expiration of the term of Office for which they were appointed or co-opted.
 - vii. If the Voting Members of The Society in an Extraordinary General Meeting approve a special resolution to remove one or more Trustees on grounds of loss of confidence before the expiration of their period of Office by a two-thirds majority of those members voting.
- A Trustee shall advise Council at the earliest opportunity of any reason why they are no longer able to act as a Trustee.

Meetings of Council

- 3.13 Council shall meet at least four times per year, in person or remotely.
- 3.14 Seven members of Council, including at least one Officer, shall form a quorum.
- 3.15 The President shall normally chair meetings of Council.
- 3.16 In the President's absence the meeting shall be chaired by a Vice-President or other Officer selected by the President. If no Officer has been selected, a Chair shall be appointed from amongst the Trustees who are present.
- 3.17 The normal method of voting at meetings of Council shall be by show of hands. A vote shall be taken in any cases prescribed by the Regulations. Votes shall normally be carried by a simple majority unless agreed by Council in advance of a vote taking place or set out in Regulations. In the event of a tied vote the Chair of the meeting shall have an additional casting vote.
- 3.18 The Chief Executive shall attend Council meetings. Other members of staff shall attend by invitation.

Ad	visory	Panel
----	--------	-------

3.19 Council may establish an Advisory Panel to provide advice to Council in support of their work as set out in Regulations.

4.	OFFICERS		
	Officers		
	4.1	The Officers of The Society shall consist of: i. President ii. Vice-Presidents iii. Treasurer	
	4.2	No person shall be simultaneously more than one of President, Vice- President, or Treasurer.	
	Elect	ion of Officers	
	4.3	Potential candidates with appropriate experience and skills for Officer positions shall be identified by the Nominations Committee.	
	4.4	Voting Members of The Society may nominate candidates for election as Officers, and Council shall appoint a Nominations Committee to oversee nominations and validate the eligibility and diversity of nominees in accordance with Regulations.	
	4.5	Council may vote to identify no more than two candidates for election for each Officer position by Voting Members with the election results of the ballot coming into effect immediately following the Annual General Meeting.	
	Presi	dent	
	4.6	Upon election, the incoming President shall be known as the President-Elect and shall attend meetings of Council as a Trustee for a period of one year before becoming President. The President-Elect is not an Officer.	
	4.7	Thereafter, the Office of President is held for a period of two years during which time the President is a Trustee of The Society after which they retire from the presidency and Council.	
	4.8	The President shall chair Council and all General Meetings.	
	4.9	The President, when temporarily prevented from giving full attention to the current business of The Society, shall provide timely notice to Council in order that their responsibilities can be discharged by other Officers, as deemed appropriate.	
	4.10	In the event that the President is unable to remain in Office for their full term, Council may appoint the President-Elect to the position of President, or Council may elect another Officer to take on the role of President until the next Annual General Meeting.	

	Vice-	Vice-Presidents	
	4.11	The Chair of each Standing Committee shall be a Vice-President, with the exception of the finance committee, which shall be chaired by the Treasurer.	
	4.12	The period of Office for Vice-Presidents is three years and they may serve up to a maximum of two consecutive terms in Office.	
	Treas	surer	
	4.13	Upon election, the Treasurer-Elect shall be invited to attend meetings of Council for a period of one year. The Treasurer-Elect is not a Trustee of The Society or an Officer and shall not be entitled to vote in Council.	
	4.14	In addition to their responsibilities as a Trustee, the Treasurer shall chair the Standing Committee responsible for financial matters, and the Treasurer-Elect shall be a member of that Committee.	
	4.15	The period of Office for the Treasurer is three years and they may serve up to a maximum of two consecutive terms in Office.	
5.	MEET	TINGS	
	5.1	The Meetings held by The Society shall be Scientific and Professional Meetings, General Meetings or other meetings approved by Council.	
	Scien	tific and Professional Meetings	
	5.2		
		The Society, Professional and Scientific Interest Groups, Regional Groups or other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed.	
	5.3	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or	
	5.3	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the	
	5.4	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the aims of the organising group and the Objects of The Society. The procedure for the establishment and conduct of Professional and Scientific Interest Group and Regional Group meetings shall be as laid down	
	5.4	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the aims of the organising group and the Objects of The Society. The procedure for the establishment and conduct of Professional and Scientific Interest Group and Regional Group meetings shall be as laid down in the constitutions of such Groups which must be approved by Council.	
	5.4 Gene	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the aims of the organising group and the Objects of The Society. The procedure for the establishment and conduct of Professional and Scientific Interest Group and Regional Group meetings shall be as laid down in the constitutions of such Groups which must be approved by Council. ral Meetings General Meetings shall be Annual or Extraordinary. The chairing, order of business at and the conduct of General Meetings shall be determined by	
	5.4 Gene 5.5	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the aims of the organising group and the Objects of The Society. The procedure for the establishment and conduct of Professional and Scientific Interest Group and Regional Group meetings shall be as laid down in the constitutions of such Groups which must be approved by Council. ral Meetings General Meetings shall be Annual or Extraordinary. The chairing, order of business at and the conduct of General Meetings shall be determined by Regulations. Members shall be notified of the date and time of all General Meetings at least 28 days in advance and the agenda and papers shall be published for	
	5.4 Gene 5.5	other groups of Fellows may organise meetings at which a scientific theme or professional topic can be presented and discussed. The subjects of and discussion at meetings shall be in accordance with the aims of the organising group and the Objects of The Society. The procedure for the establishment and conduct of Professional and Scientific Interest Group and Regional Group meetings shall be as laid down in the constitutions of such Groups which must be approved by Council. ral Meetings General Meetings shall be Annual or Extraordinary. The chairing, order of business at and the conduct of General Meetings shall be determined by Regulations. Members shall be notified of the date and time of all General Meetings at least 28 days in advance and the agenda and papers shall be published for members to view at least 14 days in advance of Meetings. The arrangements for General Meetings shall allow for members either to be	

Annu	al General Meeting
5.10	The Annual General Meeting shall be held at a date set by Council at a time suitable to receive the Annual Report and Accounts.
5.11	The Annual General Meeting shall:
	 i. Receive the annual report of Council including reports on committee activities from the Officers. ii. Receive an annual report on the general business of The Society from the Chief Executive. iii. Receive the audited accounts for the previous year. iv. Note the results of the vote for new members of Council. v. Note the Officers for the next year. vi. Note election of Honorary Fellows. vii. Note and acknowledge the Fellows and Honorary Fellows who have died in the past year. viii. Appoint Auditors. ix. Transact such other business as is provided by the Royal Charter, Byelaws and Regulations.
	For votes that will take place during an Annual General Meeting, proxy voting will be permitted in accordance with Regulations.
Extra	ordinary General Meetings
5.12	An Extraordinary General Meeting may be called to debate matters relating to the governance of The Society, including changes to the Byelaws, as prescribed in Regulations: i. At any time by the President.
	 ii. At any time on a resolution of Council. iii. By Council within 28 calendar days of receipt of a written request made in accordance with the procedures set out in Regulations from no fewer than 25 Voting Members.
5.13	Notification of the matters to be debated and the arrangements for voting shall be provided to all Voting Members at least 21 calendar days in advance of the meeting. Only matters given in the papers may be debated and then voted on.
5.14	Where an Extraordinary General Meeting is called to debate proposed changes to the Byelaws, Council shall, in accordance with procedures set out in Regulations, make provision in the timetable for Voting Members to put forward amendments to the proposed changes so that they can be debated at the same time.
5.15	An Extraordinary General Meeting shall initially convene to debate the issues. The meeting shall then be adjourned and a summary of the proceedings together with the motion(s) for voting published and circulated to Voting Members, normally within 5 working days following the meeting.
5.16	Voting on the motion(s) shall be in accordance with the Regulations and carried out online, within 14 calendar days from the date on which the summary of the proceedings is published and circulated to Voting Members.

6.	COLLECTIONS AND PUBLICATIONS	
	Colle	ctions
	6.1	The Collections of the Geological Society comprise:
		 i. Library Collection (physical and electronic published material including books, periodicals and maps). ii. Artefacts (works of art, geological specimens and items of historical significance). iii. Archives (business papers of The Society, deposited papers, the Royal Charter, Deeds and Common Seal).
	6.2	Council shall ensure the proper stewardship of The Society's Collections, and shall make the Collections accessible to the Membership and the general public.
	6.3	Council has the authority to purchase, loan, dispose or sell items from the Collections and shall establish and maintain a loans, acquisitions and disposal strategy for the Collections that is consistent with The Society's charitable Objects and relevant legislation.
	Publi	cations
	6.4	Council shall establish and maintain a publishing strategy that is consistent with The Society's charitable Objects and shall delegate such powers as it considers desirable for establishing and maintaining the scientific standards and general quality of such publications.
7.	BUSII	NESS PRACTICES
	Staff	
	7.1	Council shall appoint, and may remove, a Chief Executive or equivalent as the senior staff member. The Chief Executive is accountable to Council which may appoint a line manager, normally the President. Working with the senior staff team the Chief Executive is responsible for:
		 i. The appointment, leadership and management of the staff. ii. The delivery of The Society's strategic objectives through an annual business plan and budget. iii. Regular reporting to Council on the management of The Society's business.
	Audit	ors
	7.2	A firm of auditors shall be approved by Council and proposed for ratification by Members at the Annual General Meeting. The auditors shall:
		 i. Carry out the annual audit of The Society's accounts in accordance with relevant legislation. ii. Report to the Audit Committee and Council on the outcomes of the annual audit.

Advise the appropriate Standing Committee(s), the Audit Committee iii. and staff on matters related to the production and approval of the annual Statement of Financial Accounts. 7.3 The auditors shall be entitled to receive notice of and attend every General Meeting. 7.4 If the role of auditor becomes vacant before the expiry of their period of Office, the Trustees shall appoint an auditor and their appointment shall only apply until the next Annual General Meeting. Royal Charter, Deeds and Common Seal Trustees shall ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place for the 7.5 safe-keeping of the Royal Charter, Deeds, Common Seal, and other legal documents. The Common Seal shall be used only with the authority of Council for the purposes described in the appropriate Regulation. Indemnity 7.6 Each acting or former Trustee and Voting Member acting as a representative of any body appointed by Council shall be indemnified against all costs and losses which they may become liable to by reason of anything done, or omitted to be done, by them in the discharge of their duty. Such indemnity includes any official duty owed to any other organisation where such duty derives from their status as a Trustee of The Society. 7.7 Such indemnity excludes costs and losses incurred as a result of: i. Negligence, fraud or criminal conduct by them in relation to The Society: ii. Conduct that they knew, or must be assumed to have known, was not in the best interests of The Society, or which they did not care whether it was in the best interests of The Society or not; Unsuccessfully defending criminal prosecution for offences arising out iii. of their fraud or dishonesty or wilful or reckless misconduct. 7.8 The Society may purchase insurance against personal liability as may arise from an act of omission which is or is alleged to be a breach of trust or duty committed in their capacity as a Trustee provided that the terms of such insurance must exclude any liability to pay: A criminal fine, or penalty in respect to non-compliance payable to a i. regulatory authority; ii. Any liability incurred in defending criminal proceedings in which the Trustee or Voting Member is convicted of an offence arising out of any fraud or dishonesty or wilful or reckless misconduct; Any liability incurred to The Society that arises out of conduct that the iii. Trustee or Voting Member knew or must reasonably have been assumed to know was not in the interests of The Society, or did not care whether it was in the best interests of The Society or not.

Lim	itation on private benefits
7.9	The property and funds of The Society shall be used for advancing The Society's Objects, though members and Trustees may receive:
	 i. Reasonable interest on any loans to The Society. ii. Reasonable rent or fee for any property let or hired to The Society. iii. Charitable benefits arising from their membership status. iv. Payment or benefits for a contracted service, provided such services are needed and such payments constitute good value, and that any actual or perceived conflict of interest is authorised by Council. v. Reimbursement for reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred on behalf of The Society.
7.10	Members who are not Trustees may be employed by The Society, subject to the usual terms and conditions of employment.